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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ex rel. No. CV 16-7937 JLS (AJWx)
JANE DOE and the States of
CALIFORNIA, COLORADO,
CONNECTICUT, DELAWARE,
FLORIDA, GEORGIA, HAWAII,
ILLINOIS, INDIANA, IOWA,
LOUSIANA, MARYLAND,
MASSACHUSETTS, MICHIGAN,
MINNESOTA, MONTANA, NEVADA,
NEW JERSEY, NEW MEXICO, NEW
YORK, NORTH CAROLINA,
OKLAHOMA, RHODE ISLAND,
TENNESSEE, TEXAS, VERMONT,
VIRGINIA, WASHINGTON, the CITY
OF CHICAGO, and the DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA,

Plaintiffs,

V.

INSYS THERAPEUTICS, INC. and
LINDEN CARE LLC,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION OF THE UNITED STATES
L. INTRODUCTION
1. This is an action brought by the United States of America (United States) to

recover treble damages and civil penalties under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C.
§§ 3729-3733, and to recover damages under the common law theory of payment by
mistake and unjust enrichment.

2. Fentanyl is a powerful, but highly addictive, opioid painkiller. Defendant
Insys Therapeutics, Inc. (Insys) is the manufacturer of Subsys, a sublingual spray form
of fentanyl. In 2012, Subsys was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
for the treatment of persistent breakthrough pain in adult cancer patients who are already
receiving, and tolerant to, around-the-clock opioid therapy.

3. Since 2012, Insys has knowingly offered and paid kickbacks to induce
physicians and nurse practitioners to prescribe Subsys for their patients. Many of these
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kickbacks have taken the form of speaker program payments for speeches to physicians
that were, in fact, shams. Insys has also hired prescribers’ relatives and friends in order
to induce prescriptions of Subsys. Insys has also provided prescribers with lavish meals
and entertainment to induce them to prescribe Subsys.

4. Insys has knowingly caused Medicare and other federal health care
programs to pay for Subsys for uses for which it was not covered. Insys has done this by
(1) encouraging physicians to prescribe Subsys in situations where it was not medically
reasonable and necessary based on patients’ medical conditions (i.e., because a patient
did not have cancer), and (2) by misrepresenting patients’ medical diagnoses to Medicare
Part D Plan Sponsors or Pharmacy Benefits Managers in order to obtain reimbursement
for Subsys.

5.  Insys’ conduct has violated the Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.C.S. § 1320(a)-
7b(b)(1)(A), and the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733. Federal health
programs have suffered tens of millions of dollars in damages due to Insys’ misconduct.
II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 because this action is brought by the United States as a

plaintiff pursuant to the False Claims Act.

7. This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the Defendant pursuant
to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) because that section authorizes nationwide service of process and
because the Defendant has transacted business in the Central District of California.

8. Venue is proper in the Central District of California pursuant to 31 U.S.C.

§ 3732(a) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1395(a) because the Defendant has transacted
business within this district, maintained employees within the district, made sales within
the district, and/or committed violations of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 within this district.

III. PARTIES

9. The United States brings this action on behalf of the Department of Health
and Human Services (HHS) and the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS),

5
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on behalf of the Medicare program; and the Defense Health Agency, on behalf of the
TRICARE program.

10.  Defendant Insys Therapeutics, Inc., is a pharmaceutical manufacturer that is
incorporated in Delaware, with headquarters in Chandler, Arizona.

11. In August 2013, Relator Mia Guzman filed the first of these consolidated

actions, United States, et al., ex rel. Guzman v. Insys Therapeutics, Inc., et al., 13-cv-

5861 JLS (AJWx) (C.D. Cal.), pursuant to the gui tam provisions of the False Claims
Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b). At the time, she was a resident of Virginia and a former Insys
employee.

12.  In October 2013, Relator Torgny Andersson filed the second of these

consolidated actions, United States ex rel. Andersson v. Insys Therapeutics, Inc., 14-cv-

9179 JLS (AJWx) (C.D. Cal.), pursuant to the gui tam provisions of the False Claims
Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b). The case was filed in the District of Massachusetts and
subsequently transferred to this district. At the time, he was a resident of Missouri and a
current employee of Insys.

13. In May 2014, Relators Christopher Connors and PRAPOMA, LLC
(PRAPOMA) filed the third of these consolidated actions, United States ex rel. John Doe
and ABC, LLC v. Insys Therapeutics, Inc., et al., 14-cv-3488 JLS (AJWx) (C.D. Cal.),
pursuant to the qui tam provisions of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b). At the

time, Mr. Connors was a resident of New Jersey and a former employee of Insys.
PRAPOMA was a limited liability corporation based in Delaware that was formed for
the purpose of bringing this qui tam action. PRAPOMA'’s managing member was the
NHCA Group, LLC, whose principal was John Mininno.

14. In March 2015, Relators Allison Erickson and Sara Lueken filed the fourth
of these consolidated actions, United States ex rel. Erickson and Lueken v. Insys
Therapeutics, Inc., 16-cv-2956 JLS (AJWx) (C.D. Cal.), pursuant to the qui tam
provisions of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b). At the time, they were both

residents of Minnesota and employees of Prime Therapeutics, a Pharmacy Benefits

6
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Manager that processed Medicare Part D claims for the Medicare program. The case
was filed inthe Eastern District of Pennsylvania and subsequently transferred to this
district.

15.  In October 2016, Relator Melina Spalter filed the fifth of these consolidated
actions, United States ex rel. Jane Doe, et al. v. Insys Therapeutics, Inc. and Linden Care
LLC, 16-cv-7937JLS (AJWx) (CD. Cal.), pursuant to the qui tarn provisions of the
False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b). Atthe time, she was a resident of New Jersey
and a former Insys employee.

IV. THEMEDICARE PROGRAM

16.  The Medicare program was established in 1965 pursuant to amendments to
Title XVII1 of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1395 etseq. The Medicare program
is a health care benefit program that provides basic health insurance coverage to certain
disabled persons as well as to individuals 65 years or older. Medicare is a "federal
health care program™ under Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(f) and a
"health care benefit program™ under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347.

17.  Medicare is funded by the federal government and administered by CMS,
which is part of HHS. Persons enrolled in the Medicare program are hereinafter referred
to as "beneficiaries."

18.  In 2003, Congress passed the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement,
and Modernization Act (MMA), Pub. L. 108-173, 117 Stat. 2066, which established a
voluntary prescription drug benefit program for Medicare enrollees known as Medicare
Part D. Anindividual is eligible to enroll in Part D if the individual lives in the service
area of a Part D plan and is entitled to Medicare benefits under Part A or enrolled under
PartB. 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-101 (a)(3)(A); 42 C.F.R. § 423.30(a).

19.  Medicare Part D coverage is not provided within the traditional Medicare
program model. Medicare Part D is based on a private market model. Medicare
contracts with private entities known as Part D Plan "Sponsors" to administer
prescription drug plans. A Part D Sponsor may be a prescription drug plan, a Medicare
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